

Considerations for Effective Search Competition Remedies

KGI Working Report November 4, 2024

Alissa Cooper, *Knight-Georgetown Institute*Jasper van den Boom, *Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf*Zander Arnao, *Knight-Georgetown Institute*





About the Knight-Georgetown Institute

The Knight-Georgetown Institute (KGI) is dedicated to connecting independent research with technology policy and design. KGI serves as a central hub for the growing network of scholarship that seeks to shape how technology is used to produce, disseminate, and access information. KGI is designed to provide practical resources that policymakers, journalists, and private and public sector leaders can use to tackle information and technology issues in real time. Georgetown University and the Knight Foundation came together to launch the institute in 2024. Learn more about KGI at https://kgi.georgetown.edu.



Executive Summary

In August 2024, the United States District Court for the District of Columbia found that Google illegally monopolized the markets for online search and search text advertising, in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act. After finding liability, the case has moved into the remedy phase. A robust debate about how to craft effective remedies and the relative merits of different approaches has ensued among industry experts, practitioners, and academic scholars.

In October 2024, the Knight-Georgetown Institute (KGI) gathered a group of these leading experts for the Future of Search Competition Workshop, a convening designed to identify lessons from other jurisdictions with experience in enforcement or regulation related to online search and to unpack the potential effects of a broad set of suggested remedies in light of the trajectory of the technology and business environment in search.

This report synthesizes a number of key considerations for crafting effective search remedies that resulted from workshop discussions and analysis of published work on this topic. Although the report was shaped by the views of workshop participants, the content of the report represents the views of KGI and the report authors alone. The content of the report should not be attributed to individual participants, who may or may not agree with some or all of the views expressed herein.

The focus of the report is on how to craft remedies that will be most effective in achieving the remedial goals articulated by the courts, as summarized by the Department of Justice and the State plaintiffs in their high-level remedy framework filed in October 2024: (1) unfetter the markets for general search and search text ads from Google's exclusionary conduct, (2) remove barriers to competition, (3) deny Google the fruits of its statutory violations, and (4) prevent Google from monopolizing these markets and related markets in the future.

This report emphasizes several foundational principles for crafting effective remedies in US v. Google:

A comprehensive, multi-faceted remedy package is essential.

Effective remedies must be comprehensive and address interlocking, mutually-reinforcing market dynamics. Omitting certain components of the package may threaten the ability for effective competition to emerge. No search engine can operate without access to a web index and algorithms to rank and return results to users. Those results cannot improve in quality without user data. Users who generate that data cannot be reached without access to distribution channels and the opportunity to build a brand. None of this can take place without monetizing the results. A successful package of remedies must address this interlocking dynamic by including remedies aimed at distribution, quality improvement through data access, choice, and public education.

Search access points must include all access points that rely on search assets.

Remedies must be applied across all search access points to be effective. The category of "all search access points" should be understood to include access points that rely on Google Search assets even if the product to which they provide access is not branded as a search product. For example, if Google's Al models rely on Google's web index or search data for training, testing, retrieval-augmented generation (RAG), or other purposes, those should be considered to be search access points to which remedies apply. This will help maintain the remedies' effectiveness even as the user-facing experience of what we currently understand as "search" continues to evolve, and to ensure that the prohibitions are not circumvented by Google's product changes or branding choices.

If structural remedies for Android and Chrome are adopted, they must be accompanied by behavioral remedies.

The objectives of a structural remedy should be to eliminate incentives for favoritism of Google Search and to make it possible to observe attempts to evade compliance through favoritism of Google Search. The European enforcement experience demonstrates that contractual prohibitions and choice screens are insufficient to meet these goals with regard to Android. Overseeing the myriad ways in which an internal Android or Chrome subsidiary might favor Google Search would be a daunting task if a regulatory authority for web and mobile ecosystems existed, and is likely infeasible without it. Therefore, spinning out Android and Chrome is the better way to approach a structural remedy, together with strong behavioral remedies to prevent monopolistic behavior from reemerging.

Data access remedies must be precise and tailored to market conditions to be effective.

A major lesson of the EU Digital Markets Act (DMA) is the need for data access remedies to be precise about what data is to be made available, in what formats, and at what time scales. Data access remedies should be based on a real-world understanding of the nuanced relationships between search quality and data, which can likely be gained through a limited amount of additional discovery and evidence gathering. More expansive data access remedies would benefit smaller competitors and new entrants in the short term but may exceed what larger firms need to compete. Legitimate privacy concerns can be distinguished from pretextual ones by allowing search rivals and privacy experts to help design query data sharing remedies. Data access remedies should account for shifting market dynamics related to generative AI.

Effectiveness should be judged on performance benchmarks with robust oversight.

The effectiveness of remedies should be measured against specific empirical performance benchmarks. If market conditions are not found to be improving, remedies should be rapidly adjusted or augmented. Remedy implementation should be overseen by a robust combination of technical committee and monitoring body that are staffed and resourced with expertise in software engineering, economics, user interface design, and governance to handle the variety of complex issues that will arise during remedy implementation.

Table of Contents

I.	Introduction	1
II.	Lessons Learned from Other Jurisdictions	2
	A. Europe, Russia, and Turkey Antitrust Cases	2
	1. Europe	2
	2. Russia and Turkey	5
	3. Lessons Learned	7
	B. Digital Markets Act	8
III.	Overall Themes in Remedy Design	11
IV.	Search Distribution and Revenue Sharing	12
	A. Contractual Prohibitions and Non-Discrimination Product Requirements	12
	B. Structural Remedies	15
	1. Android	15
	2. Chrome	17
	3. Other structural approaches	18
	C. Choice Remedies	18
	1. Design principles	20
	2. One click to switch	22
	3. Market testing	22
	4. Public education	23
V.	Accumulation and Use of Data	24
	A. The Role of Quality and the Need for Further Discovery	25
	B. Precision	26
	C. Competitive Effects on Firms of Different Types	27
	D. Pretextual Versus Legitimate Privacy Concerns	29
	E. Final Considerations	30
VI.	Remedy Implementation	30
	A. Transparency for Monitoring Purposes	31
	B. Performance Benchmarks	31
	C. Technical Committee and Monitor	32
VII	l. Conclusion	34
Αp	ppendix: Workshop Participants	35

I. Introduction

In August 2024, the United States District Court for the District of Columbia found that Google illegally monopolized the markets for online search and search text advertising, in violation of Section 2 of the Sherman Act.¹ After finding liability, the case has moved into the remedy phase, with a target date of August 2025 for the court to impose its remedy package. A robust debate about how to craft effective remedies and the relative merits of different approaches has ensued among industry experts, practitioners, and academic scholars.

In October 2024, the Knight-Georgetown Institute (KGI) gathered a group of these leading experts for the Future of Search Competition Workshop, a two-day convening designed to (1) identify lessons from the empirical and implementation evidence from other jurisdictions that have engaged in enforcement or regulation related to online search, and (2) work through a broader set of interventions suggested as potential remedies to understand their utility given the trajectory of the technology and business environment in search.

This report synthesizes a number of key considerations for crafting effective search remedies that resulted from workshop discussions and analysis of published work on this topic. The focus of the report is on how to craft remedies that will be most effective in restoring competition. As summarized by the Department of Justice (DOJ) and the State plaintiffs in their high-level remedy framework filed with the court, the remedial goals articulated by courts are to: (1) unfetter the markets for general search and search text ads from Google's exclusionary conduct, (2) remove barriers to competition, (3) deny Google the fruits of its statutory violations, and (4) prevent Google from monopolizing these markets and related markets in the future.² Rather than proposing a specific remedy formulation, the report highlights important considerations for the court depending on which remedies are selected to be included in the final order.

Although the report was shaped by the views of workshop participants, the content of the report represents the views of KGI and the report authors alone. The content of the report should not be attributed to individual participants, who may or may not agree with some or all of the views expressed herein. The full list of participants can be found in the appendix.

¹ United States et al. v. Google LLC and State of Colorado et al. v. Google LLC (2024) Memorandum Opinion (District of Columbia). Available at:

 $[\]underline{\text{https://files.lbr.cloud/public/2024-08/045110819896.pdf?} VersionId=mHMw8uSvPbFCwl.7.yAY8wRXM0.UCmrD.}$

² United States et al. v. Google LLC (2024) Plaintiffs' Proposed Remedy Framework (District of Columbia). Available at: https://storage.courtlistener.com/recap/gov.uscourts.dcd.223205/gov.uscourts.dcd.223205.1052.0.pdf.

The remainder of the report is structured as follows:

- Section II summarizes lessons learned from other jurisdictions;
- Section III discusses overall themes in remedy design;
- Section IV provides considerations for remedies addressing search distribution and revenue sharing, including contractual, structural, and choice remedies;
- Section V analyzes remedies addressing accumulation and use of data;
- Section VI discusses remedy implementation; and
- Section VII concludes.

Sections IV and V focus on two out of the four categories of harms delineated in the plaintiffs' high-level remedy framework, as those were the categories where the workshop provided novel insights extending beyond previously published work.

II. Lessons Learned from Other Jurisdictions

A. Europe, Russia, and Turkey Antitrust Cases

Google Search and adjacent product lines have been the subject of antitrust investigation and enforcement in numerous jurisdictions.³ This section focuses on three cases whose effects have been the subject of empirical investigation: Europe, Russia, and Turkey.

1. Europe

Google has been investigated by the European Commission in three antitrust cases: Google Shopping, Android, and AdSense.⁴ This section focuses on the first two decisions, as they are most relevant to *US v. Google*.

In each case, the Commission adopted an infringement decision paired with remedies. Generally, the Commission is much less prescriptive than US courts in how investigated firms are supposed to remedy anticompetitive behavior. The Commission typically explains what needs to be done by offering high-level principles, and the investigated firm designs its own compliance.

³ Bergqvist, C. (2024) 'Taking Stock of Google's Antitrust Troubles as the World Turns Against It', *ProMarket*, 19 February. Available at: https://www.promarket.org/2024/02/19/taking-stock-of-googles-antitrust-troubles-as-the-world-turns-against-it/ (Accessed: 24 October 2024).

⁴ European Commission (2017) 'Case AT.39740 Google Search (Shopping)'. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/competition/antitrust/cases/dec_docs/39740/39740_14996_3.pdf; European Commission (2018) 'Case AT.40099 Google Android'. Available at:

https://ec.europa.eu/competition/antitrust/cases/dec_docs/40099/40099_9993_3.pdf; Case AT.40411, European Commission (2019) 'Case AT.40411 Google Search (AdSense).', par. 698-700, Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/competition/antitrust/cases/dec_docs/40411/40411_1619_11.pdf.

In the Google Shopping case, the Commission found that Google had engaged in anticompetitive self-preferencing of Google Shopping on the Google search engine results page (SERP). The Commission imposed nondiscrimination obligations on Google's display and operation of the SERP.⁵

To remedy the behavior, Google functionally separated its Google Shopping division from its other divisions and set up an auction for access to the Google Shopping box. Prior to the division, Google Shopping conducted two activities: operating the Shopping box on the SERP and the stand-alone Google Shopping website. With the separation, the new independent division became responsible for operating the infrastructure of the Shopping box, while the operation of the stand-alone website remained within Google. The latter division would act as a bidder for the auction in its own right. This meant that, effectively, competitors in comparison shopping were bidding directly against Google in the auctions for the Shopping Box.

In 2021, the new Google Shopping division was found to have been preventing competing comparison shopping services from participating within the Google Shopping box unless business models were adjusted to either directly sell products or intermediate between merchants and Google itself, limiting the ability of Google's competitors to themselves offer comparison shopping services on equal footing.⁸

Meanwhile, as the remedies were focused on access to the Shopping box, Google did not stop demoting competing comparison shopping services in unpaid search results. Furthermore, Google allegedly helped advertisers with guidance to set up hollow websites so that they could bid for spaces in the Shopping box as well, effectively blurring the lines between comparison shopping and advertising. As a result of how the remedies were implemented, traffic to competing comparison shopping service providers continued to decline. Through its interpretation of the scope of the required remedies, and the way in which it implemented the changes, Google was able to both adhere to the text of the specifications of the Commission and ensure that the remedies were ineffective to restore competition.

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/en/TXT/?uri=CELEX:62022CJ0048.

⁵ European Commission (2017) 'Case AT.39740 Google Search (Shopping)'.

⁶ Ibid.; Höppner, T. (2020) 'Antitrust Remedies In Digital Markets: Lessons For Enforcement Authorities From Non-Compliance With EU Google Decisions'. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3739813. See p. 3 for a detailed overview of the restructuring process and the remedies.

⁷ Ibid.

⁸ Google LLC v. European Commission (2021) Judgment of the General Court (Luxembourg). Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:62017TJ0612.

⁹ Höppner (2020) 'Antitrust Remedies In Digital Markets'.

¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹ Ibid.; Hink, S. and van den Boom, J. (2024) 'The idealo-founder speaks: Google Shopping, the DMA, and the future of the Internet – Interview with Albrecht von Sonntag', SCiDA, 8 October. Available at: https://scidaproject.com/2024/10/08/the-idealo-founder-speaks-google-shopping-the-dma-and-the-future-of-the-internet-interview-with-albrecht-von-sonntag/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

¹² In its September 10, 2024 ruling, the Court of Justice of the European Union concluded that the remedy adopted by Google did not succeed in addressing the abuse identified by the Commission. See *Google LLC v. European Commission* (2024) *Judgment of the Court* (Luxembourg). Available at:

The Commission Decision in the Android case led to the introduction of choice screens for web browsers and search access points on Android devices; a prohibition of anti-fragmentation agreements; and limitations on the use of revenue sharing agreements, prohibiting Google from requiring original equipment manufacturers (OEMs) to exclusively install Google Search.¹³ The adoption of choice screens had precedent from earlier antitrust enforcement in the EU. In 2009, Microsoft agreed in a settlement with the European Commission to display a choice screen for users of Internet Explorer to select a default browser.¹⁴ Empirical evidence indicates that this choice screen likely had little effect on Internet Explorer's market share (1.4-2%).¹⁵ In 2013, Microsoft was fined by the European Commission after it discovered the company had dropped the choice screen during an update to Windows 7.¹⁶ Notably, it took 14 months for anyone to notice that the choice screen was no longer available.¹⁷

Nevertheless, the Commission accepted Google's proposed choice screen as a component of the Android case remedy package. The first renditions of the choice screen were considered wholly ineffective, as Google used the design of the choice screen to suppress viable alternatives. By designing the choice screen auction in a way that prioritized search engines that generated the most revenue per install, the choice screen attracted poor quality search providers. Moreover, Google only provided five choices, did not offer any explanation of the choices, and made search providers bid to be placed in the auction. In 2021, Google changed its choice screens to be more effective. It introduced 12 choices, with a small amount of information, and access to the choice screen became free of charge. Despite these changes, the choice screens have had negligible effects on Google's market share.

¹³

¹³ European Commission (2018) 'Case AT.40099 Google Android'.

 ¹⁴ Dignan, L. (2009) 'EU ends Microsoft antitrust probe; Accepts browser choice', *ZDNET*, December 15. Available at: https://www.zdnet.com/article/eu-ends-microsoft-antitrust-probe-accepts-browser-choice/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024).
 ¹⁵ Vásquez Duque, O. (2023) 'Active Choice vs. Inertia? An Exploratory Assessment of the European Microsoft Case's Choice Screen', *Journal of Competition Law & Economics*, 19(1), pp. 60–74. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/joclec/nhac009.
 ¹⁶ Chee, F.Y. (2013) 'EU fines Microsoft \$731 million for broken promise, warns others', *Reuters*, 7 March. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/technology/eu-fines-microsoft-731-million-for-broken-promise-warns-others-idUSBRE92500
 ⁵ (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

¹⁷ European Commission (2013) 'Antitrust: Commission fines Microsoft for non-compliance with browser choice commitments'. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip 13 196.

¹⁸ The auction was designed on payments "per install", rather than "per appearance." It therefore attracted bids from parties that aimed to extract exorbitantly high rents per user. This resulted in the choice screen being filled with relatively unknown and untrustworthy suppliers. See Ostrovsky, M. (2023) *Choice Screen Auctions, American Economic Review*, 113(9), pp. 2486–2505. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.20220699; Lomas, N. (2020) 'Google's EU Android choice screen isn't working say search rivals, calling for a joint process to devise a fair remedy', *TechCrunch*, 27 October. Available at: https://techcrunch.com/2020/10/27/googles-eu-android-choice-screen-isnt-working-say-search-rivals-calling-for-a-joint-process-to-devise-a-fair-remedy/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024); FairSearch (2021) *Submission on behalf of FairSearch to the ACCC's Issues Paper: Views on the roll-out of Google's search and browser choice screens following the European Commission's Google Android decision*. Available at: https://www.accc.gov.au/system/files/FairSearch.pdf; FairSearch (2021) 'European Commission must require effective Android remedies', 12 January. Available at:

https://fairsearch.org/google-android-european-commission-must-require-effective-remedies/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

¹⁹ Höppner, T. and Westerhoff, P. (2023) 'Google finally amends Choice Screen remedy to prevent non-compliance proceedings in EU Android case', *Hausfeld*, 6 November. Available at:

https://www.hausfeld.com/en-gb/what-we-think/perspectives-blogs/google-finally-amends-choice-screen-remedy-to-preven t-non-compliance-proceedings-in-eu-android-case/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

In these two cases, the Commission attempted to stop Google from leveraging market power to and from Google Search. The Android case relates to leveraging power from upstream markets (Android and Chrome) to strengthen Google's position in search. Meanwhile, the Google Shopping case attempted to address leveraging from Google's search monopoly into downstream comparison shopping markets.

In both instances, the remedies have proven insufficient to restore competition. In relation to Android, empirical investigation has estimated that the impact of the remedies following the Android case led to less than 1% shift in market share between Google Search and its competitors.²⁰ Meanwhile, Google has continued to leverage its power from search downstream to comparison shopping markets.

The ineffectiveness of remedies following these cases can be attributed to a number of factors. In Google Shopping, the European Commission allowed Google to design its own remedies. ²¹ Allowing a violator to design its own remedies is a major challenge in EU antitrust enforcement. In this instance, the result was a flawed auction that excluded and disadvantaged actual and potential competitors in comparison shopping, while allowing advertisers to issue bids for placement in the Google Shopping box. In the Android case, the OEMs' total dependence on Android to be able to operate in the market rendered the contractual changes impotent. Here too, Google initially introduced suboptimal choice screens based on an auction that created perverse incentives for low-quality bidders to bid the most. Even after revising this design, choice screens were only offered on new devices and only shown once. The combination of contractual measures and a one-time choice was not enough to change market shares in a meaningful way. This difficulty is a major reason why the Commission later chose to pursue promotion of competition via legislation instead of continued antitrust enforcement.

2. Russia and Turkey

Cases in Russia and Turkey have resulted in stronger effects, but many of the underlying reasons for this are not translatable to the US market.²² In Russia, Google was required to end its exclusive deals with OEMs, allow competing search engines to be preinstalled, stop self-promoting Google Search exclusively, and show alternative search engines in a choice window (and later a choice widget). Only Yandex and Mail.ru appeared as choices alongside Google. The result was estimated to be a 10% increase in adoption of Yandex. This would indicate that the combination of contractual changes with a choice screen offering limited choices is more effective when there is already a strong search competitor. Cultural and political considerations may have also supported the uptake of Yandex as a "national champion" firm.

²⁰ Decarolis, F., Li, M. and Paternollo, F. (2023) 'Competition and Defaults in Online Search', *CEPR Press*, (No. 17779). Available at: https://cepr.org/publications/dp17779 (Accessed: 9 August 2024).

²¹ European Commission (2017) 'Case AT.39740 Google Search (Shopping)'.

²² Decarolis, Li, and Paternollo (2023) 'Competition and Defaults in Online Search'.

Turkey took a different approach, prohibiting Google's contracts with OEMs from (1) requiring or implying the exclusive preinstallation of Google Search or the exclusive placement of the Google Search widget on the home screen, (2) requiring Google Search to be assigned by default to all search access points, (3) requiring or implying the installation of Google Webview as the default in-app web browser, and (4) circumventing these three conditions through financial or other incentives. Google reportedly exploited OEMs' dependence on Android to exert pressure on the competition authority to make changes.²³ It took Google five months and a period of daily fines from the Turkish competition authority to bring its contracts into compliance with the remedy. Huawei, a significant player in the Turkish mobile handset market, switched its default to Yandex. The overall result of the remedies is estimated to be a shift of approximately 10% market share to Yandex.

This shift is attributed to a number of factors. Rather than adopting a choice screen, Turkey ensured that OEMs were free to contract with any Google rival to be their exclusive default search engine. Yandex had a strong presence in Turkey, offering a compelling alternative for Turkish OEMs. Finally, Huawei phones were relatively popular in Turkey at a time when US export controls complicated Google's ability to contract with Huawei.²⁴ The Turkish case resonates strongly with the findings in *US v. Google*: defaults are incredibly important.

In the EU (and the US), there is no alternative to Google with a similarly strong position to Yandex, nor one which is considered to be the "national" search provider that governments wish to protect or promote. Furthermore, remedies in the EU are shaped by a commitment to the principles of proportionality and subsidiarity, think means that the EU is always likely to try the least intrusive option first. As a result of these factors, the effects of European remedies have remained limited, and the Commission has not ordered Google to revise its remedies in relation to Google Shopping. Google voluntarily changed its choice screen in anticipation of the Digital Markets Act.

²³ Reuters (2019) 'Google warns Turkish partners over new Android phones amid dispute', *Reuters*, 16 December. Available at:

https://www.reuters.com/article/technology/google-warns-turkish-partners-over-new-android-phones-amid-dispute-idUSKB N1YK0QM/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

²⁴ Department of Commerce (2019), *Addition of Certain Entities to the Entity List and Revision of Entries on the Entity List*, District of Columbia: Federal Register. Available at:

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/08/20/2020-18213/addition-of-huawei-non-us-affiliates-to-the-entity-list-the-erremoval-of-temporary-general-license-and (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

²⁵ European Commission (2017) 'Case AT.39740 Google Search (Shopping)'; Höppner (2020) 'Antitrust Remedies In Digital Markets'; Decarolis, F. and Li, M. (2023) 'Regulating online search in the EU: From the android case to the digital markets act and digital services act', *International Journal of Industrial Organization*. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4660372. ²⁶ Bostoen, F. and van Wamel, D. (2023) 'Antitrust Remedies: From Caution to Creativity', *Journal of European Competition Law & Practice*, 14(8), pp. 540–552. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/jeclap/lpad051.

3. Lessons Learned

There are a number of important lessons to draw from Europe's experiences in designing remedies: (1) delays will be exploited, (2) monitoring is extremely difficult, (3) the investigated firm cannot be trusted to co-design remedies, (4) choice remedies are insufficient to stimulate competition.²⁷

First, time is of the essence in dynamic markets, and large digital firms are likely to employ delay strategies. The investigation in the Google Shopping case began in 2010 and took seven years, while the Android case took three years. Judicial review in the Google Shopping case took another seven years and was only concluded in September 2024, while the Android case is still awaiting a final decision.²⁸

The uncertainty for both authorities and competitors can work to the advantage of the regulated firm. If there is uncertainty about whether the case will hold on substantive grounds, competition authorities are likely less inclined to invest a lot of effort into monitoring and adapting the remedies. After all, these efforts would be wasted if the case is to be thrown out.

The design of the auctions and choice screens in light of antitrust cases has shown that Google will implement ineffective and clearly suboptimal remedies first and will roll them out slowly. The longer cases drag on without demanding that remedies are adjusted, the greater the harm to competition.²⁹ Moreover, as digital markets are dynamic, having more time to negotiate the remedies provides the firm with more opportunities to change its business model to circumvent the remedies. To the extent possible, remedies should be designed to anticipate future market developments, and they should have built-in mechanisms for forcing the dominant firm to act.

Second, monitoring is extremely difficult in digital markets. There is information asymmetry between the firms and the competition authority, and it is hard to establish the exact impact of remedies in a timely manner.³⁰ This is especially the case where the remedies are rolled out over time, so that it is unclear what the total effect of the remedies is across the jurisdiction. In imposing antitrust remedies, the Commission has relied on information provided by the investigated firm to develop remedies. Third parties have raised concerns and shared information to show that these remedies were clearly not effective.³¹

_

²⁷ van den Boom, J. (2024) 'Search Markets in Europe' [PowerPoint presentation]. Future of Search Competition Workshop, SCiDA. Available at: https://scidaproject.com/presentation-knight-georgetown-institute/.

²⁸ van den Boom, J. (2024) 'Winners & losers: Game, set and match in Google Shopping?', *SCiDA*, 17 September. Available at: https://scidaproject.com/2024/09/17/winners-losers-game-set-and-match-in-google-shopping/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

²⁹ Google CEO Sundar Pichai has noted publicly his expectation that the *US v. Google* appeals will continue on for many years. See Clanton, A. (2024) 'Google CEO Sundar Pichai Says Antitrust Trials Could Drag On for Years', *Bloomberg*, 25 September. Available at:

https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2024-09-25/google-ceo-says-antitrust-trials-could-drag-on-for-many-years

³⁰ Crémer, J., de Montiove, Y.-A. and Schweitzer, H. (2019) Competition policy for the digital era. Publications Office of the

³⁰ Crémer, J., de Montjoye, Y.-A. and Schweitzer, H. (2019) *Competition policy for the digital era*. Publications Office of the European Union. Available at: https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2763/407537 (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

³¹ Höppner, T. (2020) 'Antitrust Remedies In Digital Markets'; Hink and van den Boom (2024) 'The idealo-founder speaks'; van den Boom (2024) 'Winners & losers'.

Vertical integration adds another layer of complexity to monitoring. It is possible that a certain remedy would be able to address problems in a market absent leveraging by the investigated firm. However, when firms are able to nudge users back to a downstream service by making changes to the design of the upstream service, the effects are harder to identify and the causal link is harder to show between the behavior in one market and the ineffectiveness of remedies in another.³²

Third, and related, the Commission could not trust the investigated firm to co-design the remedies. By giving the firm discretion, the competition authority gave more space to the investigated firm to abuse the information asymmetry that exists between the regulator and the regulated. Competitors of the investigated firm generally have a clearer understanding as to how the behavior in question harms competition, and what would be effective ways to remedy it. In designing remedies, especially where harms are grave, input by third parties should be prioritized over input by the investigated firm itself.³³

Fourth, and finally, offering choices to consumers is insufficient, especially when the investigated firm can still nudge behavior towards its own services. Consumers have proven prone to defaults and path dependency. Moreover, large digital firms have strong brands that inspire brand-loyalty among consumers. Merely giving users the opportunity to pick another default is likely insufficient. Experiences in Russia and Turkey do not translate well due to nation- and market-specific factors.³⁴

Together, these experiences show that using one-off remedies that are effectively cease-and-desist orders for the anticompetitive behavior in question and only focused on one market or the connection between two markets will produce limited effects.³⁵ To ensure the effectiveness of remedies, the regulator needs to use a "remedy package" that addresses a variety of links and design choices, including structural remedies to ensure fair treatment between different suppliers.

B. Digital Markets Act

The Digital Markets Act (DMA) came into force in March 2024. It is the EU's attempt to address the shortcomings of EU antitrust law.³⁶ The ex ante rules imposed on large digital firms – so-called gatekeepers – are designed to enable the Commission to act quickly without having to investigate a complex set of facts.³⁷ Moreover, the use of the concept of "effective compliance" gives the

³² Feasey, R. and Krämer, J. (2019) *Implementing effective remedies for anti-competitive intermediation bias on vertically integrated platforms*. Centre on Regulation in Europe. Available at:

https://cerre.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/cerre_report_intermediation_bias_remedies.pdf (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

³³ Höppner (2020) 'Antitrust Remedies In Digital Markets'; European Commission (2017) 'Case AT.39740 Google Search (Shopping)'.

³⁴ Decarolis and Li (2023) 'Regulating online search in the EU'; Decarolis, Li, and Paternollo (2023) 'Competition and Defaults in Online Search'.

³⁵ Bostoen and van Wamel (2023) 'Antitrust Remedies'.

³⁶ European Union (2022) Regulation (EU) 2022/1925 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 September 2022 on contestable and fair markets in the digital sector and amending Directives (EU) 2019/1937 and (EU) 2020/1828 (Digital Markets Act) (Text with EEA relevance), OJ L. Available at: http://data.europa.eu/eli/reg/2022/1925/oj/eng (Accessed: 2 October 2024).

³⁷ Podszun, R. (ed.) (2024) *Digital Markets Act: Article-by-Article Commentary*. München, Germany: Baden-Baden, Germany: Oxford, United Kingdom: Beck/Hart/Nomos.

Commission discretionary space in deciding whether a gatekeeper has insufficiently adhered to the ex ante obligations.³⁸ Under the DMA, the burden of intervention rests on the gatekeeper: the firm itself must prove that its compliance is effective.

The DMA tries to resolve anti-competitive behavior by regulated firms through a holistic approach that spans across different services in the value chain.³⁹ For Google, eight services have been designated as core platform services, including Google Search, Chrome, Android, and Google Shopping. 40 This approach recognizes the reality that large firms operating in many adjacent markets simultaneously can leverage market power up and down the value chain.

Such an integrated approach should be lauded, as the Android and Shopping cases have shown that Google will attempt to steer users towards search from its upstream services, and use search to capture downstream markets by leveraging its power. In digital markets, no service or product market can be viewed in isolation, as complementarities and economies of scope create ample opportunities for leveraging and market entry, while the informational power of platform operators facilitates user steering. The imposition of remedies under US antitrust law operates under a different framework, but it is nevertheless critical for the court to understand in detail the dependencies between products and services throughout the entire vertical chain in order to craft remedies that achieve the goals of this case.

The most relevant DMA provisions for Google Search are the following:

- Art. 6(3), which mandates choices for search and browser defaults, requires default settings to be easily changed, and requires easy uninstallation of software;
- Art. 6(11), which mandates that gatekeeper search engines offer competitors access to ranking, click, and query data under FRAND terms;
- Art. 6(5), which prohibits self-preferencing;
- Art. 5(2), which prohibits combining personal data from different core platform services absent user consent; and
- Art. 5(9), which requires pricing and fee transparency for advertisers.

The objectives of the DMA and of the remedies in US v. Google differ in important ways. The stated purpose of the DMA is to create fair and contestable markets.⁴¹ In these early stages of implementation, DMA enforcement has not primarily focused on improving competition for the markets in which gatekeepers' core platform services exist. Instead, enforcement has been focused on

³⁸ Ibid.

³⁹ Schweitzer, H. (2021) 'The Art to Make Gatekeeper Positions Contestable and the Challenge to Know What Is Fair: A Discussion of the Digital Markets Act'. Available at: https://oa.mg/work/3196533607 (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

⁴⁰ European Commission (2023) 'Summary of Commission Decision of 5 September 2023 relating to a decision pursuant to Article 3 of Regulation (EU) 2022/1925'. Available at:

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=OJ:C 202300549.

⁴¹ Ibid.; Crémer, J. et al. (2021) 'Fairness and Contestability in the Digital Markets Act', Yale Journal on Regulation. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3923599; European Union (2022) Digital Markets Act.

stimulating competition *in* the market in a way that produces fair outcomes that are beneficial to consumers, and where entry is not unduly hindered.⁴²

In practice, therefore, the combination of the provisions listed above address some of the ways in which Google abuses its market power in search, but not all. The DMA attempts to achieve its goals by requiring choice, data sharing with rivals, an end to self-preferencing, limits on data combination, and pricing transparency, but does little to address the exclusionary distribution deals at the heart of *US v. Google*. The data sharing provisions are limited and do not extend to syndication. There is much that can be learned from the implementation of the DMA (some of which is covered in Section IV on choice and Section V on data access). But the toolkit available to the court in *US v. Google* should be understood as much broader than what can be proscribed in ex ante regulation.

The effectiveness of the DMA in achieving its objectives is as of yet unknown. What the gatekeepers' behavior demonstrates thus far is that regulating digital firms through behavioral remedies seemingly always results in a game of whack-a-mole. Gatekeepers can game the limited resources available to competition authorities by being noncompliant to varying degrees across different services, dispersing the authority's attention and resources. The Commission has been quick to open noncompliance investigations in the most egregious cases. Yet it is likely that all decisions by the Commission related to noncompliance will be fought in court, leading to further delays. If the Commission finds noncompliance in three decisions issued over eight years against a gatekeeper, only then can it start using structural remedies.⁴³

The DMA should be a source of inspiration for the court and the technical committee when it comes to oversight and enforcement. The DMA requires gatekeepers to write compliance reports and publish non-confidential summaries. As long as the Commission requires that these be sufficiently detailed and treat incomplete reports as noncompliant, these reports can help to address information asymmetries and support public accountability.⁴⁴ The Commission has the choice between letting the gatekeeper attempt compliance, potentially resulting in a noncompliance decision, or using implementing acts to directly specify what a gatekeeper must do.⁴⁵ Having the choice strikes a balance between having the state fully design a remedy and letting the gatekeeper choose a remedy under a reversed burden of proof with the risk of significant penalties.

Ultimately, the DMA provides fertile ground in which to exercise enforcement capabilities directed at digital markets and attendant to the specific characteristics of those markets. The court in *US v Google* should learn what it can from the DMA's design and early implementation, but appreciate that in the context of search it has an opportunity to adopt a more functionally comprehensive remedy package at the outset. While the Commission must wait to see if systemic noncompliance emerges before pursuing structural relief, the court's liability judgment already provides the basis for such intervention.

⁴² Ibid.

⁴³ European Union (2022) Digital Markets Act, Article 18(3).

⁴⁴ Crémer, J. et al. (2023) 'Enforcing the Digital Markets Act: Institutional Choices, Compliance, and Antitrust', *Yale Journal on Regulation*; European Union (2022) *Digital Markets Act*.

⁴⁵ European Union (2022) Digital Markets Act.

III. Overall Themes in Remedy Design

When analyzing the existing research, evidence, and remedy proposals in light of the court's liability finding, two key themes of remedial design emerge: (1) the need to actively jump start search competition, and (2) the need for interlocking, mutually reinforcing remedies.

For at least 15 years, Google has maintained default status on a dominant set of search access points and thereby maintained its monopoly power in general search and search text advertising. This sustained advantage has had cumulative effects: competition has been virtually eliminated as consumers formed habits around the use of Google Search and grew to associate it synonymously with online search, to the point where "googling" has become a verb. Google grew its user base such that most queries are directed at Google, providing it with rich data used to improve its product. Google has obtained a virtual monopoly share of revenue from online searches. All of this means that restoring competition in online search must go beyond simply halting Google's conduct that has so far foreclosed its rivals from accessing key channels of distribution.

Merely enabling a rival search engine to appear alongside Google, be placed on a choice screen, or even to replace it as the default on some search access points will be insufficient to restore effective competition. It will take time and a significant investment of resources for Google's rivals to build their own brand value, improve their quality, and be perceived as compelling alternatives in the eyes of consumers and advertisers. Most consumers have developed deep experience and familiarity with using Google, so inertia will continue to guide their choice of search engine, raising barriers to switching that dampen the prospects of potential entrants.

As such, any remedies package should seek to *jump start* competition by enabling competing search engines to quickly achieve parity with Google in terms of quality and reputation and to build on that foundation going forward.⁴⁶

To realize this goal, a potential remedy package must recognize the "interlocking, mutually reinforcing nature" of the market conditions in which Google and its rivals operate.⁴⁷ No search engine can operate without access to a web index and algorithms to rank and return results to users. Those results cannot improve in quality without user data. Users who generate that data cannot be reached without access to distribution channels and the opportunity to build a brand. None of this can take place without the search engine monetizing the results.

A successful package of remedies must address this interlocking dynamic. It is insufficient to open up distribution without addressing the data and quality disadvantages created by Google's illegal conduct.

-

⁴⁶ Romaine, R.C. and Salop, S.C. (1999) 'Preserving Monopoly: Economic Analysis, Legal Standards and Microsoft', *George Mason Law Review*; Salop, S. (2024) 'What Is an Effective Remedy in the Google Search Case?', *ProMarket*, 6 September. Available at: https://www.promarket.org/2024/09/06/what-is-an-effective-remedy-in-the-google-search-case/; (Accessed: 9 September 2024); Shapiro, C. (2024) 'Microsoft: A Remedial Failure', *Antitrust Law Journal*, 75(3), pp. 739–772; Gavil, A. and First, H. (2014) *The Microsoft Antitrust Cases*. The MIT Press.

⁴⁷ United States et al. v. Google LLC (2024) Plaintiffs' Proposed Remedy Framework.

It is unrealistic to expect consumers to switch merely because rivals appear, without measures that strengthen their awareness of their choices, ability to experience competing search engines, and brand and quality changes over time.

A package of remedies aimed at distribution, quality improvement through data access, choice, and public education is needed to achieve the goals of remedies under Section 2 of the Sherman Act. These remedies will be more effective by working together, and the absence of any one would weaken if not eliminate the likelihood of restoring effective competition.

IV. Search Distribution and Revenue Sharing

A. Contractual Prohibitions and Non-Discrimination Product Requirements

Google's distribution contracts are central to this case. As a result, commentators have suggested a wide variety of potential contractual remedies seeking to end or limit Google's contracts with partners for exclusives, defaults, preinstallation, and preferential placement, with or without accompanying revenue sharing. Notably, these proposals vary in their approach to revenue sharing, with some proposing to prohibit revenue sharing between Google and partners entirely, cap the revenue sharing percentage, cap the share of users whose searches can contribute to the revenue share, or address other contractual provisions without addressing revenue sharing.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/5fe36a18d3bf7f08a02c87f6/Appendix V - assessment of pro-competition interventions in general search 1.7.20.pdf (Accessed: 31 October 2024).

⁴⁸ Berjon, R. and Caffarra, C. (2024) "Google is a Monopolist" – Wrong and Right Ways to Think About Remedies', *Tech Policy Press*, 9 August. Available at:

https://techpolicy.press/google-is-a-monopolist-wrong-and-right-ways-to-think-about-remedies (Accessed: 30 September 2024); Decarolis, Li, and Paternollo (2023) 'Competition and Defaults in Online Search'; Heidhues, P. et al. (2023) 'More Competitive Search Through Regulation', Yale Journal on Regulation. Available at:

https://www.yalejreg.com/print/more-competitive-search-through-regulation/ (Accessed: 10 August 2024); Hovenkamp, E. (2023) 'The Competitive Effects of Search Engine Defaults', *SSRN Electronic Journal* [Preprint]. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4647211; Munir, S. *et al.* (2024) 'Google's Chrome Antitrust Paradox'. Rochester, NY. Available at: https://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=4780718 (Accessed: 15 August 2024); Salop (2024) 'What Is an Effective Remedy in the Google Search Case?'; Scott Morton, F. *et al.* (2024) *Judicial Remedies To Restore Competition in the Market for General Search*. Policy Discussion Paper No. 10. Yale Tobin Center for Economic Policy. Available at: https://tobin.vale.edu/sites/default/files/publication-documents/2024-09/Judicial%20Remedies%20To%20Restore%20Lost

^{%20}Competition%20in%20the%20Market%20for%20General%20Search-for%20posting.pdf (Accessed: 5 September 2024); Segal, D. (2024) 'To redress Google's search monopoly misconduct, strong remedy is needed', Yelp - Official Blog, 2 May. Available at: https://blog.yelp.com/news/to-redress-googles-search-monopoly-misconduct-strong-remedy-is-needed/ (Accessed: 27 August 2024); Sharma, S. (2024) An analysis of potential remedies to address Google's search monopoly. Consumer Reports Advocacy. Available at: https://advocacy.consumerreports.org/research/60808/ (Accessed: 9 August 2024); Weinberg, G. (2024) 'Creating Enduring Competition in the Search Market', Spread Privacy, 12 September. Available at: https://spreadprivacy.com/creating-enduring-competition-in-the-search-market/ (Accessed: 12 September 2024). See also Competition and Markets Authority (2020) Appendix V: assessment of pro-competition interventions in general search. Available at:

Regardless of the specific contractual restrictions the court may choose to adopt, there are a number of safeguards that are essential for any contractual remedies to be effective. First, a contractual remedy should address all search access points, and should not assume that the common search access points of today (browser, OS, mobile apps, virtual assistants) will be the same in the future. Natural language interfaces to online services, including search, should be expected to continue their current trajectory of rapid evolution. A durable remedy would address search access points broadly.

Second, the category of "all search access points" should be understood to include access points that rely on Google Search assets even if the product to which they provide access is not branded as a search product. For example, if Gemini or other Al models that Google develops and deploys rely on Google's web index or search data for training, testing, retrieval-augmented generation (RAG), or other purposes, those should be considered to be search access points to which contractual prohibitions apply. This is an important scoping consideration to ensure that contractual prohibitions effectively limit Google's control over search distribution channels even as the user-facing experience of what we currently understand as "search" continues to evolve, and to ensure that the prohibitions are not circumvented by Google's product changes or branding choices.

Third, if contractual prohibitions are not coupled with prohibitions on Google self-preferencing Google Search in its own products, Google could use those products as avenues for monopoly maintenance going forward. The court's liability finding recognized the central role of Chrome in narrowing distribution channels and delivering query share to Google. But Google's other apps, Pixel and other devices, Gemini, and future services that rely on or steer users towards Google Search should all be considered for self-preferencing prohibitions because they can serve as levers to reinforce Google's dominance in search. Specifically in the context of generative AI, the court should recognize that Gemini and other models trained on search assets were created from the fruits of an illegal monopoly (both index and data). One way to limit Google from leveraging its search monopoly into generative AI would be to limit or prohibit Google's AI products from using search-related data or assets going forward.

Fourth, partners entering into contracts with Google Search need the freedom to deploy Google functionalities as they see fit. The court's opinion in the liability trial identified numerous ways in which Google's current contracts encumber its partners, for example by preventing them from preinstalling alternative search engines, sourcing ads from third parties, or serving their own search results or ads. If these kinds of contractual limitations are not prohibited (whether as conditions for exclusives, defaults, preinstallation, preferential placement, or revenue sharing), they will amount to Google retaining its ability to shape the search market, the search ads market, and the search experience given Google's current market power.

Fifth, the reality is that changes to Google's contracts will affect businesses in the markets adjacent and connected to search: browsing, mobile devices, advertising, web publishing, generative AI, and more. Some of these markets already experience concentration, for example in the provision of

⁴⁹ United States et al. v. Google LLC (2024) Memorandum Opinion paras. 305, 309, 370-372, 385-390.

browser engines that serve as the core software component in web browsers.⁵⁰ Especially when it comes to revenue sharing agreements, there are unavoidable tensions in remedy design insofar as these agreements serve to limit entry in search while providing revenue that allows competing browsers (and browser engines) or OEMs to offer higher quality or lower cost products, or to stay in the market at all.⁵¹ The approach the court takes to contractual remedies should be cognizant of and deliberate about the potential downstream impacts of contractual changes on adjacent markets and competitors.⁵²

Finally, when considering contractual prohibitions related to Android, the history lesson from the EU is clear: because of OEMs' complete dependence on Android and the popularity of Google apps, prohibitions that limit the kinds of contracts between Google Search and OEMs are insufficient to open up mobile search distribution. The restrictions imposed on distribution agreements, revenue-sharing agreements, and anti-fragmentation agreements between Google and OEMs were not enough to affect Google's market share in any meaningful way.

Google's behavior related to the EU restriction on anti-fragmentation agreements demonstrates how Google uses the dominance of Android and the popularity of Google apps to perpetuate the status quo. When the anti-fragmentation agreements were prohibited, Google replaced them with Android Compatibility Commitments. Under these commitments, Google will only enter into a Mobile Application Distribution Agreement (MADA) for devices that adhere to Google's standards for Android, and will only license Google apps to OEMs that comply with the commitments.⁵³ This means that there is effectively an anti-fragmentation agreement applicable to any device that operates at least one Google application. OEMs are free to develop other devices that use Android, but they cannot use any of Google's other apps, including the ubiquitous YouTube and highly sticky apps such as Gmail. The plaintiffs' amended complaint in *US v. Google* discusses anti-fragmentation agreements and Android compatibility commitments interchangeably, because they have led to the same effect in the market.⁵⁴ So far, no successful forks have appeared in the EU.

_

⁵⁰ Competition and Markets Authority (2022) *Mobile Ecosystems: Market study final report*. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/media/63f61bc0d3bf7f62e8c34a02/Mobile Ecosystems Final Report amended 2.p.df (Accessed: 31 October 2024); Mozilla (2022) *Five Walled Gardens: Why Browsers are Essential to the Internet and How Operating Systems are Holding Them Back*. Available at:

https://research.mozilla.org/files/2022/10/Mozilla-Five-Walled-Gardens.pdf (Accessed: 31 October 2024).

⁵¹ Scott Morton et al. (2024) Judicial Remedies To Restore Competition in the Market for General Search.

⁵² For discussion of the potential impact of certain contractual restrictions on competing browsers, see Australian Competition and Consumer Commission (2021) Digital platform services inquiry: Interim report No. 3 - Search defaults and choice screens. Available at:

https://www.accc.gov.au/system/files/DPB%20-%20DPSI%20-%20September%202021%20-%20Full%20Report%20-%2030%20September%202021%20(3) 1.pdf (Accessed: 31 October 2024); Berjon and Caffarra (2024) "Google is a Monopolist" – Wrong and Right Ways to Think About Remedies'; Competition and Markets Authority (2020) Appendix V; Sharma (2024) An analysis of potential remedies to address Google's search monopoly.

⁵³ Competition and Markets Authority (2020) Appendix V.

⁵⁴ United States et al. v. Google LLC (2021) Amended Complaint. Available at: https://www.justice.gov/atr/case-document/file/1428271/dl?inline.

Several existing proposals suggest a structural remedy as a means to address the problem of restoring search competition in light of the OEMs' dependency on Android. The next section reflects on considerations for structural remedies for Android and other parts of Google's business.

B. Structural Remedies

1. Android

Existing proposals discuss two primary structural approaches to Android: (1) functional separation, in which Android would be housed within Alphabet as an internal subsidiary whose employees, assets, and communications are closed off from the parent company, and (2) a spin-off of Android into an independent, separate company. ⁵⁵ Any structural remedy for Android should meet two objectives: eliminate incentives for Android to favor Google Search and make it possible to observe attempts by Android to evade compliance by favoring Google Search.

The functional separation approach is not designed to meet these two objectives simultaneously. Decoupling the incentives of the subsidiary from the incentives of the parent would require extensive, strict internal controls affecting every aspect of both entities' operations, including personnel, compensation, infrastructure, research and development, legal, finance, and more. Out of all the available options under US law for different kinds of corporate governance structures, none of them are designed to safeguard a subsidiary whose incentives and objectives may be misaligned or even adverse to its parent company. Google's own experience of functionally separating Google Shopping in Europe – where competition failed to emerge – serves as a proofpoint of some of the difficulties of the functional separation approach.⁵⁶

While functional separation is an approach that has been used successfully in telecom in the US and abroad, the presence of a dedicated telecom regulator with statutory authority to oversee the conduct of the parent and the subsidiaries is a distinguishing feature of that sector that makes all the difference. There is no such regulator in search, and therefore no prospect of an oversight entity that could be sufficiently embedded and resourced to be able to identify the myriad different ways the subsidiary may favor its parent or vice versa.

This leaves the spin-off as the preferred structural approach. To eliminate incentives for favoritism, however, a spin-off would need to be coupled with behavioral remedies that prevent recreating the tie between Google Search and Android that exists today. Thus, structural and behavioral remedies should not be viewed as alternatives, but as a package that only works if both are adopted together.

-

⁵⁵ Heidhues *et al.* (2023) 'More Competitive Search Through Regulation'; Salop, S. (2024) 'Why an Android Divestiture Is a Necessary Google Search Remedy', ProMarket, 20 September. Available at:

http://www.promarket.org/2024/09/20/why-an-android-divestiture-is-a-necessary-google-search-remedy/ (Accessed: 22 September 2024); Scott Morton et al. (2024) Judicial Remedies To Restore Competition in the Market for General Search; Sharma (2024) An analysis of potential remedies to address Google's search monopoly; Wu, T. (2024) 'What Should We Do About Google?', The New York Times, 13 August. Available at:

https://www.nytimes.com/2024/08/13/opinion/google-antitrust-remedy.html (Accessed: 21 August 2024).

⁵⁶ Hink and van den Boom (2024) 'The idealo-founder speaks'.

There are multiple different types of behavioral restrictions needed for a spun-out Android to effectively stimulate competition. Contractual prohibitions restricting Google's agreements with the spin-off would obviously be necessary.⁵⁷ Line of business restrictions on both entities would also be required until competition is restored so as to avoid Google moving back into the mobile OS market and Android moving back into the search market.⁵⁸ Similar to the concerns discussed above related to contractual prohibitions, both types of restrictions need to be carefully crafted to account for changes underway in the search market as a result of generative Al. Prohibitions concerning search should be scoped to include products and businesses that rely on search assets even if they are not branded as search. Google is already offering preferential access to its own on-device AI model on certain handsets.59

Layering these behavioral remedies together with the spin-out also would also provide important defenses against potential future accumulation of dominant positions by other players in the search and mobile OS markets. Consumers would be right to be concerned if a spun-out Android were an immediately desirable acquisition target for Microsoft (already in the search market) or Apple (possible entrant into the search market), for example. The same line of business restrictions that prevent Android from recreating Google's monopoly position by vertically integrating search with the OS would limit the ability of another large search player to do so. Requiring the spin-out to maintain Android as open source software, to maintain it under a permissive licensing regime (as happens today with its Apache 2.0 license), to explicitly allow forking, and to license it at FRAND rates would be additional checks against this concern that the court could enforce under its equity jurisdiction, and that could potentially be imposed in perpetuity as competitive protections kept in place after the line of business restrictions expire. Furthermore, the actions of the Android spin-out must continue to be subject to the antitrust authorities' ongoing, vigilant merger review and policing of monopolization.

There are numerous examples of thriving businesses – and nonprofits – that are not monopolists that securely operate critical open source software tools used by millions or billions of internet users worldwide everyday. 60 The behavioral remedies described above would have the Android spin-out operate in a fashion typical of many other software organizations. Moreover, Google's current anti-forking restrictions are highly unusual in the open source software industry. Requiring the Android spin-out to explicitly allow forking would bring it in line with typical practice for both commercial and non-commercial open source software.

It is clear from Google's behavior in response to antitrust enforcement in other jurisdictions that reinforcing the search monopoly has been one motivator for Google to enforce anti-fragmentation

⁵⁷ Salop (2024) 'What Is an Effective Remedy in the Google Search Case?'.

⁵⁸ Scott Morton et al. (2024) Judicial Remedies To Restore Competition in the Market for General Search.

⁵⁹ Google (2024) Get started with Gemini Nano on Android (on-device) | Gemini API, Google AI for Developers. Available at: https://ai.google.dev/gemini-api/docs/get-started/android aicore (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

⁶⁰ A good example is the Linux operating system, which for nearly 35 years has powered computing infrastructure from servers to supercomputers to mobile devices, and from which Android itself is derived. There are similar prominent examples across every layer of digital and internet infrastructure and applications: FreeBSD, the Apache HTTP Server, Nginx, BIND, OpenSSL, Ruby on Rails, Let's Encrypt, GNU Mailman, Firefox, and thousands of others.

agreements that supersede the terms of the software license itself. Given the role of economies of scale and network effects in shaping both the search and OS markets, applying strong behavioral remedies to the spin-out can help avoid recreating in the future the same conditions that spurred *US v. Google* in the first place.

Spinning out Android would make future attempts at favoritism more observable because they would have to rely on agreements of some kind between the spin-out and Google. While the relationship between the two companies would require ongoing oversight from the technical committee (described in Section VI), communications and agreements between the two independent entities would be much more easily observable than in the case of a subsidiary.

2. Chrome

There are many ways that Google uses Chrome to strengthen its position in search and vice versa. Beyond contractual bundling, Google steers users self-preferentially in both directions – from Chrome to Google Search and from Google Search to Chrome – while also enhancing search through the collection of browsing data. ⁶¹ Unlike Safari and Firefox, Chrome has been unwilling to restrict the use of third-party cookies, having spent years delaying and finally abandoning previously announced plans to do so. ⁶² While competition concerns have centered on how Chrome restricting third-party cookies might give Google a relative data advantage compared to its ad tech competitors, the company's ultimate unwillingness to restrict third-party cookies could instead (or additionally) be viewed as a reinforcement of its search monopoly, insofar as it allows Google as a third-party provider of ads and analytics on large swaths of the web to continue to collect rich data about web sites to index and rank. Internal Google documents leaked in early 2024 provide indications that Google uses Chrome data to guide its indexing processes and optimize its ranking algorithms. ⁶³ Additional discovery may well demonstrate other ways in which Chrome is a critical tool for monopoly maintenance.

A number of commenters have called for a structural remedy that addresses Chrome, or Chrome together with Android.⁶⁴ Although the ecosystem dynamics differ between Chrome and Android, the objectives of a structural remedy for Chrome would be the same: to eliminate the incentives for Chrome to favor Google Search (and vice versa), and to make attempts at favoritism observable. The

⁶¹ Berjon and Caffarra (2024) "Google is a Monopolist" – Wrong and Right Ways to Think About Remedies'; Competition and Markets Authority (2020) *Appendix V*; Scott Morton *et al.* (2024) *Judicial Remedies To Restore Competition in the Market for General Search*.

⁶² Lomas, N. (2024) 'Google's latest Privacy Sandbox gambit could pit user choice against tracking', *TechCrunch*, 23 July. Available at:

https://techcrunch.com/2024/07/23/googles-latest-privacy-sandbox-gambit-could-pit-user-choice-against-tracking/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

⁶³ Fischer, M. (2024) 'How Google Search ranking works', *Search Engine Land*, 13 August. Available at: https://searchengineland.com/how-google-search-ranking-works-445141 (Accessed: 23 October 2024); Sato, M. (2024) 'The biggest findings in the Google Search leak', *The Verge*, 31 May. Available at:

https://www.theverge.com/2024/5/31/24167119/google-search-algorithm-documents-leak-seo-chrome-clicks (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

⁶⁴ Berjon and Caffarra (2024) "Google is a Monopolist" – Wrong and Right Ways to Think About Remedies'; Munir *et al.* (2024) 'Google's Chrome Antitrust Paradox'; Scott Morton *et al.* (2024) *Judicial Remedies To Restore Competition in the Market for General Search*; Segal (2024) 'To redress Google's search monopoly misconduct, strong remedy is needed'; Wu (2024) 'What Should We Do About Google?'.

analysis above about the relative merits of a spin-out as compared to an internal subsidiary apply equally to Chrome as they do to Android. Moreover, web browsers and web services are deeply intertwined. The technologies and interfaces that browsers afford – including cookies and other storage technologies, browser APIs, and other features – shape how search, ads, and other services can be delivered by Google and its rivals. Chrome has already built in preferential access to Google's proprietary AI models, ⁶⁵ and work is underway to broaden access to browser APIs that would drive ever more traffic to those models. ⁶⁶ Overseeing the myriad ways in which all of these interlinking relationships might be used by Google to favor its internal Chrome subsidiary or by the subsidiary to favor Google Search, directly or indirectly, would be a daunting task if a regulatory authority for the web did exist, and is likely infeasible without it.

As in the case of Android, combining a Chrome spin-out with behavioral remedies can help address concerns about a spun-out Chrome potentially being acquired by a large browser competitor or otherwise contributing to erosion of competition in the browser market. Line of business restrictions that prevent Google from re-entering the browser market and prevent the spin-out from entering the search market until competition is restored would simultaneously support the competitive process in both the search and browser markets. Requirements that the spin-out maintain Chromium as open source software with a permissive licensing regime in perpetuity would further safeguard the ecosystem of competing browsers that rely on Chromium after the line of business restrictions expire.

3. Other structural approaches

A number of other structural remedies have been proposed, including divesting Google's web index into an independent entity or functionally separating Google Search from other parts of Google.⁶⁷ We do not analyze these ideas further here, but the observations above about the relative merits of spin-outs compared to internal subsidiaries and the need to couple structural relief with specific behavioral prohibitions are worthy guideposts should these other ideas be pursued.

C. Choice Remedies

Choice remedies aim to facilitate the ability of users to actively make informed decisions about which search engines they use and select as their default. Robust literature has documented how behavioral

⁶⁵ Baheux, K. and Klepper, A. (2024) *Built-in AI* | *AI on Chrome, Chrome for Developers*. Available at: https://developer.chrome.com/docs/ai/built-in (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

⁶⁶ Denicola, D. *et al.* (2024) *Writing Assistance APIs Explainer, GitHub*. Available at: https://github.com/WICG/writing-assistance-apis/blob/main/README.md (Accessed: 23 October 2024); Denicola, D., Steiner, S., HM, H. (2024) 'Explainer for the Prompt API'. Explainers by Googlers. Available at: https://github.com/explainers-by-googlers/prompt-api (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

⁶⁷ Berjon and Caffarra (2024) "Google is a Monopolist" – Wrong and Right Ways to Think About Remedies'; Crémer, J. *et al.* (2024) 'What We Learn About the Behavioral Economics of Defaults From the Google Search Monopolization Case', *ProMarket*, 27 February. Available at:

https://www.promarket.org/2024/02/27/what-we-learn-about-the-behavioral-economics-of-defaults-from-the-google-search-monopolization-case/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024); Murthi, R. and Prelovac, V. (2024) 'Dawn of a new era in Search: Balancing innovation, competition, and public good | Kagi Blog', *Tales from Kagi*, 29 August. Available at: https://blog.kagi.com/dawn-new-era-search (Accessed: 30 September 2024)

factors, such as default effects, status quo effects, information overload, and choice fatigue can exert a strong influence on consumer behavior.⁶⁸ Choice remedies are generally imposed in order to prevent choices from being presented in a way that takes advantage of these behavioral factors to undermine competition.

Despite a poor track record, one type of choice remedy – the choice screen – continues to receive significant attention and interest from analysts and policymakers, particularly in Europe. ⁶⁹ In its comprehensive study of digital advertising, the United Kingdom's Competition and Markets Authority (CMA) recommended that it be given the authority to impose choice screens in online search and scrutinize their designs. ⁷⁰ Several studies have specifically evaluated how choice screens affect consumer selection of search engines. ⁷¹ These studies build on decades of behavioral research into choice architecture. ⁷² The lessons identified by the specific search engine studies and the broader knowledge base should inform the implementation of any choice remedy imposed in the US.

Lessons from the early implementation of the DMA are also instructive. The DMA's choice obligations are in some ways extremely specific (for example, choice must be provided "at the moment of the end users' first use of an online search engine, virtual assistant or web browser") and in other ways open to wide interpretation.⁷³ This has allowed gatekeepers to roll out choice screens in an inconsistent way, to different parts of the user base at different times, with differing levels of information about the choices

73 European Union (2022) Digital Markets Act, Article 6(3).

-

⁶⁸ Fletcher, A. and Vasas, Z. (2024) 'Implementing the DMA: the role of behavioural insights', *Journal of European Competition Law & Practice*. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/jeclap/lpae045.

⁶⁹ Akesson, J. et al. (2023) Can browser choice screens be effective? Mozilla. Available at: https://research.mozilla.org/files/2023/09/Can-browser-choice-screens-be-effective -Mozilla-experiment-report.pdf (Accessed: 13 August 2024); Berjon and Caffarra (2024) "Google is a Monopolist" – Wrong and Right Ways to Think About Remedies'; Brave Browser (2024) 'How Choice Screens Affect Your Browsing & Search Experience', Brave, 22 August. Available at: https://brave.com/learn/what-is-a-choice-screen/ (Accessed: 2 October 2024); Competition and Markets Authority (2020) Appendix V; Decarolis, Li, and Paternollo (2023) 'Competition and Defaults in Online Search'; European Union (2022) Digital Markets Act; Ostrovsky, M. (2023) Choice Screen Auctions; Petrie, G. (2024) Beyond Choice Screens: Exploring browser choice design interventions. Mozilla Foundation. Available at:

https://research.mozilla.org/browser-competition/remedyconcepts (Accessed: 2 October 2024); Scott Morton et al. (2024) Judicial Remedies To Restore Competition in the Market for General Search; Sharma (2024) An analysis of potential remedies to address Google's search monopoly; Vásquez Duque (2023) 'Active Choice vs. Inertia? An Exploratory Assessment of the European Microsoft Case's Choice Screen'; Weinberg (2024) 'Creating Enduring Competition in the Search Market'.

To Competition and Markets Authority (2020) Appendix V.

⁷¹ Akesson et al. (2023) Can browser choice screens be effective?; BEUC I The European Consumer Organization (2023) Examining the Design of Choice Screens in the Context of the Digital Markets Act. Available at: https://www.beuc.eu/sites/default/files/publications/BEUC-X-2023-132 Examining the Design of Choice Screens in the Context of the Digital Markets Act.pdf; Competition and Markets Authority (2020) Appendix V; DuckDuckGo (2019) 'Search Preference Menu Immediately Increases Google Competitors' Market Share by 300-800%', Spread Privacy, 30 October. Available at: https://spreadprivacy.com/search-engine-preference-menu/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024); Petrie (2024) Beyond Choice Screens.

⁷² Summarized in Competition and Markets Authority (2022) *Evidence review of Online Choice Architecture and consumer and competition harm*. Available at: <a href="https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/online-choice-architecture-how-digital-design-can-harm-competition-and-consumers/evidence-review-of-online-choice-architecture-and-consumer-and-competition-harm (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

being offered.⁷⁴ Changing default settings on some platforms also continues to be an onerous process.⁷⁵

1. Design principles

Because of the amount of attention that has been paid to choice remedies, a robust framework for their design can be readily assembled. If the court chooses to adopt a choice remedy, it should also adopt and make legally binding the set of design principles that are widely recognized as best practices for designing choice architecture in the context of online search. The technical committee should then be responsible for evaluating whether proposed designs are consistent with the principles. The list below is a synthesis of the key design principles identified by applicable studies of search choice remedies:⁷⁶

- 1. The nature of the choice requested and all available options should be clear and comprehensible. Choice remedies should be designed to provide any information necessary for users to understand that they have a choice and how to exercise it. Users are unlikely to be accustomed to setting their own defaults or even considering alternative search engines and may therefore exhibit biases toward more familiar options. As such, choices should aim to educate users about default settings, the full range of options available, and how each option is different. Furthermore, all the information presented should be 'graspable' to the average user and avoid overly long, complex, or legalistic language.⁷⁷
- **2. Options should be presented and framed neutrally and fairly.** Choice framing should not bias users toward selecting a particular option. Choice remedies should require the usage of neutral language and forbid any options from being framed as proprietary, default, or the status quo. Choice remedies should further proscribe tactics that prime users to select a specific option and that use visual presentations to give one option greater prominence or a higher rank. Finally, choice remedies should make certain that the process of choosing has the same level of complexity for all available

⁷⁴ Mukherjee, S. *et al.* (2024) 'Exclusive: EU's new tech laws are working; small browsers gain market share', *Reuters*, 10 April. Available at:

https://www.reuters.com/technology/eus-new-tech-laws-are-working-small-browsers-gain-market-share-2024-04-10/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024); van den Boom, J. and Hinck, S. (2024) 'Conference Debrief – Highlights from the ECN DMA Workshop', *SCiDA*, 26 June. Available at:

https://scidaproject.com/2024/06/26/conference-debrief-highlights-from-the-ecn-dma-workshop/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

⁷⁵ Authority for Consumers and Markets (2024) 'ECN Digital Markets Act Conference 2024', 28 June. Available at: https://www.acm.nl/en/publications/ecn-digital-markets-act-conference-2024 (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

⁷⁶ Akesson et al. (2023) Can browser choice screens be effective?; BEUC (2023) Examining the Design of Choice Screens in the Context of the Digital Markets Act; Competition and Markets Authority (2020) Appendix V; DuckDuckGo (2019) 'Search Preference Menu Immediately Increases Google Competitors' Market Share by 300-800%'; Fletcher, A. (2024) Choice Architecture for End Users in the DMA. Centre on Regulation in Europe. Available at:

https://cerre.eu/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/Choice-Architecture-for-End-Users-in-the-DMA_FINAL.pdf (Accessed: 23 October 2024); Petrie (2024) Beyond Choice Screens.

⁷⁷ This is particularly important for mandated choice since many users may find the requirement to choose unexpected. Users benefit from descriptive text and social cues like average ratings (Fletcher 2024).

⁷⁸ Fletcher (2024) Choice Architecture for End Users in the DMA.

options.

- **3. Choices should be presented at points in time when users consider them relevant.** Choices can appear when users are not expecting them, such as during an unrelated workflow, which limits their effectiveness. For example, the first iteration of Google's EU Android choice screen unexpectedly appeared in the Play Store, causing feelings of annoyance and quick dismissal as a result. At a minimum, choices should appear when users are open to thoughtful consideration about the options presented, such as when devices are being set up or updated. Alternatively, one study suggested that choices could be made available via a "default tab" for users to discover, which though slower to engage may attract more interest over time. Another study proposed an 'ask me again tomorrow' button allowing users to delay choosing until they are ready.
- **4. Choices should be easy to find and access.** Choice options should be available with low friction and be equally accessible. They should also be housed in an obvious location that can be navigated to via multiple routes. Navigation should be simple and streamlined, involving no extraneous steps or delays.
- **5. Choices should be complete and easily reversible.** The tools given to users should ensure that newly selected defaults succeed in completely replacing the previous one across all relevant functionalities and visual presentations. On mobile, for example, the new default search engine should replace the old one on the device's home screen. Choice tools should also enable users to reverse their choices and easily switch defaults with little effort. Users should be made aware of this ease and reversibility, which should encourage experimentation with options.
- 6. Choices architecture should cover all access points with a single choice. A single choice flow should cover settings across all search access points on a device. As with contractual remedies, the category of "all search access points" should extend to access points that rely on Google Search assets even if they are not branded as such. Any access point that has the effect of defaulting a consumer into using Google Search should have the same remedy applied, ensuring choice remedies are robust to changes in the broader market. The integrations of Gemini into Android and Chrome that have already taken place are notable in this regard.
- 7. The number of options available should not be unduly limited. Choice remedies should include all relevant third-party options. Consumers prefer more options and do not feel overwhelmed when choosing between them. In the first iteration of the EU Android choice screen, options were limited to just four, which may have cultivated a sense of scarcity.⁸² A survey conducted by DuckDuckGo found that increasing the number of options from four to eight substantially raised the hypothetical market

⁷⁹ Petrie (2024) Beyond Choice Screens.

⁸⁰ Ibid.

⁸¹ Fletcher (2024) Choice Architecture for End Users in the DMA.

⁸² Ibid.

shares of smaller search engines.83

- **8.** Any descriptive text used should be extensive, include branded visuals, and face no undue constraints. Including more information about each option is better. When Google designed the first iteration of its EU Android choice screen, it limited the visibility of alternative search engines that promote earning "points," undermining Bing and Ecosia, which employ this practice. One experimental study tested dropping search engines' branded visuals and found that this change increased the selection of Google by 6.7%, perhaps due to confusion among users causing them to opt for the most familiar choice. This experiment also found that very short descriptions of options were unhelpful to users.
- **9. Users should not be nudged or prompted to reconsider.** Firms possess strong incentives to steer users back to their own services when users (try to) switch away. As discussed above, this problem has been noted for Google Search and Chrome defaults.⁸⁷ A choice remedy could include mandatory reporting from Google to the monitor or technical committee about its use of prompts to nudge users back to Google: how often the prompts are shown, to whom, under what circumstances, and what the impact is on switching behavior.
- **10.** Choices should be tested before and after roll out. It is difficult to know in advance which behavioral factors are relevant for a given choice context, and many design problems involve a careful balancing of different considerations (for example, providing users with sufficient but not an excessive amount of information). The governance of market testing is discussed further below.

2. One click to switch

A corollary of these principles is that interventions featuring choice remedies should not be limited to a mere "screen" or a singular point in time. Rather, a choice remedy should support consumers at each stage of their journey and ensure space to explore choices in different ways.⁸⁸

One promising way to support this would be to require that competition be literally one click away across all search access points. This would be a mandatory reduction in friction for any time a consumer wants to switch, not limited to a screen that only appears occasionally.

3. Market testing

Google's proposals for how to meet any choice requirements imposed by the court should be market tested. The process of testing any choice remedy before and after rollout should be overseen by the technical committee and conducted with input obtained via a formal stakeholder consultation process

⁸³ DuckDuckGo (2019) 'Search Preference Menu Immediately Increases Google Competitors' Market Share by 300-800%'.

⁸⁴ Competition and Markets Authority (2020) Appendix V.

⁸⁵ BEUC (2023) Examining the Design of Choice Screens in the Context of the Digital Markets Act.

⁸⁶ Ihid

⁸⁷ Munir et al. (2024) 'Google's Chrome Antitrust Paradox'.

⁸⁸ For instance, in the context of choice screens for browsers, Mozilla has developed the creative idea of an "App Store Quiz" permitting consumers to explore various options and learn whether they suit their preferences (Petrie 2024).

that involves all interested parties, including search rivals, platform providers, independent experts, and consumer and user representatives. Market testing should begin with a formal consultation process for these stakeholders to offer their perspective and help decide which aspects of design to test, which metrics to record, and which populations to examine. At the final stage, results should be evaluated prior to approval for deployment and on an ongoing basis afterwards. The compliance plans discussed in Section VI should specify how the choice implementations were tested and what the results were.

4. Public education

Ultimately, it is important to recognize that consumer behaviors are heterogeneous and sticky. Even when combined with other remedies, choice remedies will not be able to perfectly sort consumers into the search engine that "best" reflects their preferences. While Google has one of the world's most recognizable brands, many of its competitors are largely unknown to consumers. Familiarity with Google will shape consumer preferences for years to come.

In addition, any choice remedy will likely receive at least some consumer backlash regardless of its timing, frequency, presentation, and the degree of agency reserved for users. Google's brand value sets a functional limit on the ability of choice architecture to influence consumers, even accounting for other aspects of human behavior.⁸⁹ An important long-term endeavor will be increasing the salience of brands that compete with Google.

As such, public education is a key complement to any choice remedy. Requiring Google to engage in advertising campaigns about the availability of search choices will be necessary in addition to any choices that are offered.

Search engines are experience goods, which means consumers may struggle to evaluate the quality of a search engine without direct exposure to it.⁹⁰ At a minimum, this reality should shape how the effectiveness of a new choice regime is evaluated, recognizing that search engine quality and consumer perceptions of that quality may take a long time to change. Alternatively, a choice remedy could attempt to induce consumers into actually experiencing alternative search engines, which may also speed changes in perception.⁹¹ Rivals themselves may want to offer incentives or rewards to get users to switch, which should be allowable under any remedy framework.

⁸⁹ Allcott, H. *et al.* (forthcoming) 'Sources of Market Power in Web Search: Evidence from a Field Experiment'. Abstract available at: https://lmusolff.github.io/papers/SearchMarket_NBER.pdf.

⁹⁰ Allcott, H. et al. (forthcoming) 'Sources of Market Power in Web Search'.

⁹¹ To that end, one proposal is to randomize the search engines initially set as default for users. See Vásquez Duque, O. (2023) *Taking Behavioral Antitrust Seriously: On Default Agreements as Exclusive Dealing and Default Randomization as a Remedy to Promote Competition*. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4548662 (Accessed: 31 October 2024) and Vásquez Duque, O. (2022) *The Potential Anticompetitive Stickiness of Default Applications: Addressing Consumer Inertia with Randomization*. Available at: https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4077132 (Accessed: 31 October 2024).

V. Accumulation and Use of Data

A wide variety of potential remedies have been suggested that would give rivals access to search data accumulated and developed by Google.⁹² These proposals focus on one or more categories of data and suggest a range of potential data sets and access types that a remedy could address:

- Web index: Google's core index covering web documents as well as more specific indexes for particular content types (e.g., images) or specialized verticals
- Query data: Google search queries, potentially together with data about query results, clicks, ranking, approximate user location data, and other query metadata
- Ranking signals: selection from potentially hundreds of different ranking signals and features (e.g., click-through rate, bounce rate, dwell time, query-based salient terms, etc.) that Google uses as inputs and outputs of dozens of different ranking algorithms and components to produce each set of search results⁹³
- Search results: what gets displayed on the search engine results page (SERP) in response to a
 query, potentially including organic results, URLs, web page snippets, specialized modules, and
 module content (e.g., videos, news, weather, stocks, etc.), as well as metadata
- Ads: ads and sponsored results that get displayed on the SERP, potentially including snippets, thumbnails, and other content that appears as part of the ad feed, as well as metadata related to ad pricing or performance.

Data sharing between software systems very commonly occurs via Application Programming Interfaces (APIs). APIs provide a programmatic interface that one party can call to fetch data from another party. APIs can be used to fetch data for one-time requests or in bulk, and depending on the remedy approach, Google may be able to provide access via existing APIs, or it may need to create new ones.

-

⁹² Berjon and Caffarra (2024) "Google is a Monopolist" – Wrong and Right Ways to Think About Remedies'; Competition and Markets Authority (2020) *Appendix V*; Cowen, T. (2024) 'How to Make the Remedy in the Google Search Case Future Proof', *The Sling*, 29 August. Available at:

https://www.thesling.org/how-to-make-the-remedy-in-the-google-search-case-future-proof/ (Accessed: 5 September 2024); Heidhues et al. (2023) 'More Competitive Search Through Regulation'; Martens, B. (2024) 'The impact of search engine data sharing on competition and consumer welfare', European Competition Journal, 20(2). Available at: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/17441056.2024.2313399; Murthi and Prelovac (2024) 'Dawn of a new era in Search; Scott Morton et al. (2024) Judicial Remedies To Restore Competition in the Market for General Search; Sharma (2024) An analysis of potential remedies to address Google's search monopoly; Weinberg (2024) 'Creating Enduring Competition in the Search Market'.

⁹³ Fischer (2024) 'How Google Search ranking works'; Fishkin, R. (2024) 'An Anonymous Source Shared Thousands of Leaked Google Search API Documents with Me; Everyone in SEO Should See Them', *SparkToro*, 28 May. Available at: https://sparktoro.com/blog/an-anonymous-source-shared-thousands-of-leaked-google-search-api-documents-with-me-everyone-in-seo-should-see-them/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024); King, M. (2024) 'Secrets from the Algorithm: Google Search's Internal Engineering Documentation Has Leaked', *iPullRank*, 28 May. Available at: https://ipullrank.com/google-algo-leak (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

Technically, bulk data could alternatively be shared manually or via some file-sharing mechanism, but APIs offer advantages for building software to programmatically retrieve the data and authenticate the entities requesting the data.

The remainder of this section will focus on the first four categories above, leaving specific analysis of remedies addressed at search advertising to other venues. However, many of our general observations may be applicable to ad syndication.

A. The Role of Quality and the Need for Further Discovery

Many access remedy proposals are motivated by a desire to allow search rivals to quickly achieve a higher quality search experience that has heretofore been out of reach as a result of Google's illegal conduct. Although some empirical analysis has been conducted on the basis of proprietary or public data to examine the relationship between data, scale, and search quality,⁹⁴ additional analysis that offers a better understanding of the relationships between these factors and user searching/switching behavior would be useful to assess data access remedies.⁹⁵ Many of the questions that are not immediately answerable or generalizable from the published literature might benefit from a limited amount of further discovery, including collection of additional evidence from competing search engines if they are willing to provide it.

In particular, it would be useful to identify which negative aspects of quality correlate with or cause user switching behavior. Quality is subjectively defined and may relate to different features of a search product for different user populations. For a given subjective definition of quality, can the difference be quantified between the impact of poor quality causing users to switch away from a search engine compared to the impact of high or improved quality causing users to switch to a search engine? Little public data exists from the field to help answer this kind of question because Google has controlled distribution channels for so long, and switching search engines is not easy in general. Discovery may help to shed some light.

There are several other questions about the relationships between data, quality, scale, and user behavior that would benefit from additional discovery:

- the relationship between a search engine's overall query share, share of long-tail queries (possibly of different types), and quality (subjectively defined) or user retention;
- quantification of the importance of query reformulation to user retention, and identification of what data is needed at what scale to be able to meet the bar for query reformulation; and

⁹⁴ See, e.g., Allcott, H. *et al.* (forthcoming) 'Sources of Market Power in Web Search'; Schaefer, M. and Sapi, G. (2023) 'Complementarities in learning from data: Insights from general search', *Information Economics and Policy*, 65, p. 101063. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.infoecopol.2023.101063.

⁹⁵ The CMA found a clear relationship between quality and data. See Competition and Markets Authority (2022) *Appendix I:* search quality and economies of scale. Competition and Markets Authority. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/find-digital-market-research/online-platforms-and-digital-advertising-market-study-appendix-i-search-quality-and-economies-of-scale-2020-cma.

 how the availability of individual SERP modules and the content they contain affects user perceptions of quality and/or switching behavior.

Having clearer or more generalizable evidence about these questions would help to determine which categories of data to focus on with data access remedies; the constraints placed on those remedies, including who is allowed to have data access, at what level of granularity, for how long, and under what licensing conditions; and what to expect as far as the competitive effects on both search rivals and advertisers of requiring Google to provide data access of different kinds. For this reason, the remainder of this section does not take a position about exactly which access remedies are likely to be most effective, but explores considerations for successfully crafting remedies depending on the type of access remedy the court chooses to adopt, if any.

B. Precision

One of the key lessons of the DMA's click-and-query data sharing provision is the need for data access remedies to be very precise about exactly which data Google is required to license, in what forms, at what granularity, and at what scale of timeliness. The DMA requires the sharing of "ranking, query, click and view data in relation to free and paid search,"⁹⁶ a definition that has allowed Google to exploit its vagueness in numerous ways. Google excludes most queries on privacy grounds, makes the data available months after it has been collected, and charges €3 per 1,000 queries⁹⁷ (likely orders of magnitude more than what it costs), limiting its utility for rivals looking to improve their own quality or indexes.⁹⁸ The need for precision will manifest in numerous different ways depending on the specific data that an access remedy may target:

- Index: Which indexes or index components are to be included. Beyond web documents, an
 access remedy would need to specify whether specialized indexes or components used
 specifically for images, videos, maps, local business sites, retail, travel, and many more are to
 be covered by the remedy.
- Query data: An access remedy would need to specify the timeliness of query data sharing (e.g., updated daily or at some other frequency), which relates to whether the data would be useful for rivals to respond to fresh/live long-tail queries; allowable privacy protections (discussed further below); what user behavior data associated with each query is included (click, click-back); what query metadata is included; whether approximate user location data (which is valued for mobile and local queries) is included; and whether queries are aggregated or offered individually.
- Ranking signals: An access remedy would need to specify which ranking signals or categories
 of signals are included and how those signals are selected, and whether individualized signals
 are provided in real-time on a per-query or per-result basis.

⁹⁶ European Union (2022) *Digital Markets Act*, Article 6(11).

⁹⁷ Google (2024) 'EU Digital Markets Act (EU DMA) Compliance Report Non-Confidential Summary'. Available at: https://storage.googleapis.com/transparencyreport/report-downloads/pdf-report-bb-2023-9-6-2024-3-6-en-v1.pdf; van den Boom, J. and Hinck, S. (no date) 'DMA Compliance Workshop – Alphabet', *SCiDA*. Available at: https://scidaproject.com/background/dma-compliance-workshop-alphabet/ (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

⁹⁸ Weinberg (2024) 'Creating Enduring Competition in the Search Market'.

 Search results: An access remedy would need to precisely describe which components of the SERP are to be provided.

With respect to search results, Google already distributes search results to syndication partners that enter into syndication agreements. These agreements constrain how syndication partners may use and display search results by, among other things, requiring bundling of results with ads; preventing adding, deleting, or re-ranking of results; restricting partners from augmenting results with rich content; preventing partners from customizing results for particular audiences; and excluding some SERP components (for example, search modules, instant answers, Al-generated summaries, and other features) from syndication. An access remedy focused on search results could therefore build on APIs that Google already provides for syndication, but with tailored requirements to ensure that the remedy is providing rivals with (real-time) access to the data that enables them to compete, rather than being constrained by the many restrictive terms Google currently offers to partners.

Across all categories of access remedies, adopting guardrails around the licensing terms is clearly important. Important guardrails include: specifying the fee structure for data access (cost basis, FRAND, zero cost, or another structure), specifying how FRAND rates should be calculated if FRAND licensing will be used, prohibiting Google from placing specific discriminatory restrictions on how licensees use the data, and requiring usage restrictions that protect privacy and the interests of web publishers. These will all be necessary to ensure that the goals of the remedies are not subverted by Google moving to make licenses unattractive to rivals.

C. Competitive Effects on Firms of Different Types

The type of access remedy chosen will affect the type of firm that is able to become more competitive both immediately and over the longer term. Large tech firms – both existing competitors (Microsoft) and potential entrants (Apple, Amazon) – are one class to consider. These firms are highly capitalized, already operate multi-billion-dollar digital businesses, operate massive data processing and storage infrastructure, make considerable ongoing investments in developing algorithmic and AI capabilities, have large built-in user bases, have significant advertiser relationships and manage their own ad networks, and, in some cases, already maintain web indexes of their own. With the existing investments and resources these firms have at their disposal, having access to Google's index and query data may suffice to allow them to develop competitive search products that satisfy both consumers' and advertisers' quality expectations, thereby helping to jump start competition when combined with other remedies. On the other end of the spectrum, an expansive access remedy that provides these firms with fresh, real-time ranking signals and search results might leave little about the internals of Google Search that they would not be able to replicate themselves. Such access may exceed what these firms need to build competitive products in the short or long term.

Smaller competitors (DuckDuckGo, Yahoo, Ecosia, and others) and potential entrants are situated differently. Some smaller search competitors build their own specialized vertical indexes, but overall they are largely reliant on syndication deals with Google or Microsoft that limit the data they receive and their ability to develop alternative ranking, presentation, and ad strategies. They do not have massive infrastructure or engineering teams dedicated to data processing and development of ranking or

⁹⁹ Ibid.

targeting algorithms and systems, nor the capital to build such infrastructure and teams. For these firms, an access remedy focused on Google's index or query data may be helpful but still insufficient to spur the development of competitive search products. Their users expect them to be responsive to any query, which requires syndication at the outset. An expansive remedy providing real-time access to search results, ranking signals, or both would likely be more effective at jump starting competition and entry from these firms. With more expansive access, smaller firms could begin to differentiate the presentation of results and ads in their offerings in the short term while entering a longer term feedback loop where more data would increase their quality, help them gain share, and increase their returns which they could then reinvest in the infrastructure, data processing, and personnel needed to free them from dependence on Google data inputs in the long run.

The ecosystem of generative AI companies and start-ups outside of large tech firms is another class to consider. This group is obviously much more nascent and varied. Large players like OpenAI and Anthropic are spending billions of dollars to develop large language models used for a variety of tasks including search-style tasks. Numerous companies are crawling the web to collect data for the purposes of model training and retrieval, but none of them are maintaining a comprehensive web index at Google's scale. Nor do they enjoy the advantages in indexing that Google has obtained through market dominance. Web publishers go to great lengths to ensure their inclusion in Google's crawling and indexing, including by setting permissive crawl settings for Google and using the Google Search Console to share sitemaps and web site changes.¹⁰⁰ Publishers have fewer incentives to take these steps for smaller crawlers, especially as the crawling landscape becomes more fraught based on concerns over intellectual property and remuneration in the generative AI space.¹⁰¹ Recent deals between Google and publishers that allow Google to be the publishers' exclusive crawler for AI model training further exacerbate this problem.¹⁰² Making Google's index available to be licensed on a nondiscriminatory basis could be particularly helpful in spurring competition at the nexus of search and generative AI.

However, any mandate to license access to the index must also consider the impact on the broader web and publisher ecosystem. Publishers are denying access to AI firms' crawlers because those firms are using the publishers' content to train generative AI models and produce AI outputs without remunerating the publishers, linking to the publishers' sites consistently, or driving traffic back to publishers. If those denials are rendered moot because AI firms can simply license access to Google's index instead, incentives to publish web content will likely continue to erode. As such, any remedy requiring Google to license its index must be accompanied by strong contractual provisions that align licensees' uses of the data with the same preferences publishers express about their sites being crawled directly. That is, publishers' preferences about whether their content can be used by a particular AI firm for model training, RAG, or traditional search should attach to their content whether it

¹⁰⁰ Google (No Date) *Google Search Console*. Available at: https://search.google.com/search-console/about (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

¹⁰¹ Longpre, S. *et al.* (2024) 'Consent in Crisis: The Rapid Decline of the Al Data Commons'. arXiv. Available at: https://doi.org/10.48550/arXiv.2407.14933.

Tong, A., Wang, E. and Coulter, M. (2024) 'Exclusive: Reddit in Al content licensing deal with Google', *Reuters*, 22 February. Available at:

https://www.reuters.com/technology/reddit-ai-content-licensing-deal-with-google-sources-say-2024-02-22/ (Accessed: 31 October 2024).

¹⁰³ Longpre, S. et al. (2024) 'Consent in Crisis'.

is indexed directly by Google, accessed via Google's licensed index, or indexed directly by the AI firm's crawler.

D. Pretextual Versus Legitimate Privacy Concerns

Under a mandatory query data sharing regime, Google's incentive to claim an overbroad privacy exception that limits the data available to its rivals is obvious. Yet if it is not done carefully, query data sharing can present real privacy risks. This makes the task of distinguishing pretextual privacy concerns from legitimate ones an important matter to resolve should the court adopt this type of remedy.

The history of de-anonymization incidents resulting from search query log data sharing has colored policy discussions about its use as a competition remedy.¹⁰⁴ Even in the presence of query log anonymization techniques that strip all identifiers from query logs that may tie them back to individual users and that disaggregate search sessions such that groups of queries may not be tied to individual users, sensitive and potentially re-identifiable data may still exist in query logs to be shared. Accidentally or purposefully, users search for personal identifiers, login credentials and passwords, uniquely identifying content, map directions, health conditions together with personally identifiable information, and other query content that they may view as sensitive if shared. Researchers and smaller search providers have developed a variety of techniques to mitigate the potential leakage of sensitive data from anonymized logs under different data sharing circumstances.¹⁰⁵

The need to protect user privacy when instituting query data access has been an overriding concern as both the EU and UK have adopted regulatory regimes that require or contemplate mandatory query data access. As noted above, the construction of the DMA and its click-and-query data sharing provision has allowed Google to design its own privacy approach without formal stakeholder input or expert review, leading to a limited query data sharing offer that has thus far not proved useful to competitors. Google staked out its position along the privacy-utility spectrum without any real opportunity for competitors or domain experts to evaluate it or propose alternatives.

Should the court choose to adopt a query data sharing remedy in *US v. Google*, a better approach would be for the technical committee to solicit proposals for privacy preservation schemes – from Google, search rivals, and data privacy experts – and conduct a stakeholder consultation process to identify the best approach. The technical committee could solicit input from potential licensees of the data, experts in privacy-preserving data sharing, user and civil society representatives, and other interested parties. Rather than simply balancing privacy and competition interests, the technical

-

¹⁰⁴ Barbaro, M. and Jr, T.Z. (2006) 'A Face Is Exposed for AOL Searcher No. 4417749', *The New York Times*, 9 August. Available at: https://www.nytimes.com/2006/08/09/technology/09aol.html (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

¹⁰⁵ For a recent overview of some approaches explored in research, see Section 2 of Pàmies-Estrems, D. and Garcia-Alfaro, J. (2023) 'On the self-adjustment of privacy safeguards for query log streams', *Computers & Security*, 134. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cose.2023.103450. See also Cliqz (2019) 'Human Web—Collecting data in a socially responsible manner', *Tech @ Cliqz*, December. Available at:

https://0x65.dev/blog/2019-12-03/human-web-collecting-data-in-a-socially-responsible-manner.html (Accessed: 23 October 2024); Edelson, L., Graef, I. and Lancieri, F. (2023) Access to Data and Algorithms: For An Effective DMA and DSA Implementation. Centre on Regulation in Europe. Available at:

https://cerre.eu/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/CERRE Access-to-Data-and-Algorithms-DMA-DSA.pdf.

¹⁰⁶ Competition and Markets Authority (2020) Appendix V; European Union (2022) Digital Markets Act.

committee should seek solutions to safeguard consumer privacy while realizing to the extent possible the competitive benefits of query sharing. While such an approach might still limit the utility of the data to a degree, it would almost certainly result in a greater amount of data sharing than is taking place under Google's implementation of query data sharing provisions of the DMA.

After doing its own analysis and gathering stakeholder input, the technical committee could identify one or more workable approaches for Google to adopt, or it could require changes to Google's own proposal. This could also be an iterative process, allowing licensees to provide additional feedback and analysis after having some experience with the data, as DuckDuckGo has done in the EU.

E. Final Considerations

Other than in the case of query data access, where Google would obtain some query data from its users that cannot be shared for privacy reasons, a strong nondiscrimination requirement is needed for all other types of access obligations to be effective. Supposing that the court orders Google to provide access to specific index components, ranking signals, or search results, Google must be required to provide licensees with access to the same data via the same interfaces as what it uses internally. The same is true for index access – if licensees are required to respect publishers' preferences about how their indexed data gets used by AI firms, then Google should be required to adhere to those preferences as well. The technical committee will need to exercise oversight in order to ensure compliance.

Access remedies aim to help rivals improve their quality, scale, and appeal to consumers and advertisers. But the effects of quality improvement are limited by users' familiarity with and willingness to use alternative search engines. Thus, access remedies must be paired with remedies that address distribution and provide space for users to experience alternative search engines as their quality improves over time.

VI. Remedy Implementation

The challenges of enforcing antitrust remedies effectively in the tech sector are well understood. The dynamism of technology markets, network effects, and information and expertise asymmetries between the enforcer and the tech firm have created hurdles to effective enforcement globally. This section describes a few key components of remedy implementation that will be particularly important in the case of Google Search, and that present opportunities to evolve past enforcement strategies in more effective directions.

¹⁰⁷ Lancieri, F. and Pereira Neto, C.M.S. (2022) 'Designing Remedies for Digital Markets: The Interplay Between Antitrust and Regulation', *Journal of Competition Law & Economics*, 18(3), pp. 613–669. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1093/joclec/nhab022.

A. Transparency for Monitoring Purposes

In the likely event that the remedy order gets appealed, Google's competitors will face years of uncertainty about the ultimate disposition of remedies. This time lag – which Google is already looking to exploit 108 – will also afford Google ample opportunity to make changes to its products and corporate structure that complicate eventual remedy enforcement. At a minimum, the court should adopt an interim measure requiring Google to report all relevant product and corporate structure changes to it while the case is on appeal. A comprehensive record will allow the court to adapt its remedy approach based on the market reality once the appeals are concluded, rather than the state of technology and business developments from years prior.

Once the remedy is imposed, Google should be required to publish detailed compliance plans in advance of implementing proposed changes. These compliance plans should specify timelines for when user-facing design changes will be implemented on each relevant access point or platform as well as back-end changes that could potentially affect competitors. The purpose of specifying these plans in detail in advance is to allow competitors and firms in adjacent markets to plan their own product changes and marketing campaigns, which are particularly important in the context of changes to choice architecture. As noted in Section II, the DMA has taken an initial step in this regard by requiring the publication of compliance plans, but it fails to require disclosure of key details like timing that can help rivals take advantage of new competitive opportunities.

B. Performance Benchmarks

How long should remedies be in force? When will the court know that the remedy goals have been achieved? In the past, courts in antitrust cases have focused on stopping the conduct found to be anticompetitive, which had the effect of orienting assessments around whether companies were fully in compliance with their legal requirements. While this compliance is necessary to achieve the goal of restoring competition, it may not be sufficient to do so. Moreover, remedies have typically been imposed for a fixed number of years that is not tied to any assessment of whether the remedy goals have been met by the time of expiry.

A more promising approach would be to shift from identifying noncompliance to assessing whether the remedies are achieving the goals of the litigation. The court could adopt specific performance benchmarks against which the effectiveness of remedies are measured. If market conditions are not found to be improving, remedies could be adjusted or augmented.¹¹¹ Performance benchmarks could

¹⁰⁸ Clanton, A. (2024) 'Google CEO Sundar Pichai Says Antitrust Trials Could Drag On for Years'

¹⁰⁹ Douglas, E. et al. (2022) Judging Big Tech: Insights on applying U.S. antitrust laws to digital markets. Washington Center for Equitable Growth. Available at:

https://equitablegrowth.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/12/Judging-Big-Tech-Insights-on-applying-U.S.-antitrust-laws-to-digital-markets.pdf.

¹¹⁰ Ibid.

¹¹¹ This approach seeks to bring the defendant firm's incentives more into alignment with the remedy goals, not unlike "crown jewel" provisions in merger consent decrees. See Shapiro, C. and Sohn, M. (1997) 'Crown Jewel Provisions in Merger Consent Decrees Special Feature', *Antitrust*, 12(1), pp. 27–32.

be packaged together with an overall time frame for remedy expiration, and a process could be specified for lengthening or shortening the applicable remedy time frame depending on when the benchmarks are met.

These performance benchmarks could include indicators of how Google's compliance with remedies directly affects other market participants: competitors, advertisers, and consumers. While market shares might be one obvious benchmark, other potential candidates include query share (which was strongly emphasized in the court's liability finding), the volume of consumers switching between search engines as a measure of the effectiveness of choice remedies, or the prices paid by advertisers. Performance benchmarks could also be defined in relation to specific remedies included in the overall package. For example, the court could identify specific indicators for assessing choice remedies that measure how users are responding to choice screens and adjusting their default settings.¹¹²

Finally, for performance benchmarks to serve their purpose, it is important that the remedies package be modifiable if the benchmarks are not being met. This means that performance benchmarks must be regularly reported to the court and to the technical committee. The vehicle through which remedies are imposed (a final judgment or consent decree) must include provisions for modifying the package that are tied to the performance benchmarks.

C. Technical Committee and Monitor

As has been discussed throughout this report, an effective remedy package will require ongoing monitoring, oversight, and iteration concerning a variety of implementation aspects related to economics, technology, user experience, governance, and more. The complexity of the remedies needed calls for a robust combination of technical committee and monitoring body that are staffed and resourced to take on a variety of functions that – outside the context of antitrust litigation – are more typically assumed by tech companies themselves or by technocratic regulators. These functions include:

Running formal processes to obtain stakeholder input. A key lesson from the DMA is that
effective compliance would benefit from drawing in affected companies, independent experts,
and public interest representatives. Formalizing the processes for stakeholder input and
operating these processes in a transparent manner can help to mitigate concerns from affected
companies about retaliation.

¹¹² This idea was inspired by a proposal to adopt indicators of effectiveness under the DMA. These nine indicators measure the share of users that have seen a choice screen, that have selected the gatekeeper's service as the default, that have selected a third-party service as the default, and that have switched between the gatekeeper and third-party services as the default in a given period. These indicators include information about search engines, browsers, and virtual assistants. See De Streel, A. and Feasey, R. (2024) *DMA Output Indicators*, pgs. 20-21, Centre on Regulation in Europe. Available at: https://cerre.eu/wp-content/uploads/2024/01/DMA-Output-Indicators FINAL.pdf (Accessed: 23 October 2024).

- Obtaining data and conducting analysis to assess FRAND licensing fees. Multiple remedy
 proposals rely on setting FRAND prices for offerings where the methodology for determining
 what is fair and reasonable would need to be determined.
- Establishing design guidelines for choice architecture and precisely defining terminology and scope of data access provisions. Section IV(C) and Section V explore the many detailed aspects that must be addressed to craft effective choice and data access remedies. These may be specified to some extent by the court, but further refinement that benefits from the technical committee's expertise would be beneficial.
- Market testing of user interface and interaction design changes. This could include test design, metric selection, user experience design and testing, quality assurance, and evaluation, as described in Section IV(C)(3).
- Defining and adjudicating complaints about line of business restrictions on Google and on spun-out entities. For these restrictions to work and be resilient to technological evolution, the definitions of the relevant markets (search, OS, browser, etc.) will need to be carefully described. Adjudicating compliance will need to rely on the technical committee's expert knowledge of industry dynamics in digital industries.
- Fielding and assessing complaints of non-compliance. There are a broad array of market contexts in which complaints of non-compliance could arise. These may include complaints about self-preferencing with respect to Google's offerings across search, ads, generative AI, other online services, browsers, and operating systems, as well as self-preferencing in the provision of data access. Adjudicating these complaints may require technical skills to conduct source code review, data analysis, and automated testing.
- Privacy analysis for query data access. As discussed in Section V(D), the technical committee could oversee processes designed to distinguish legitimate privacy issues from pretextual ones, evaluate privacy preservation schemes, and analyze privacy-utility trade-offs.

The *Microsoft* consent decree establishes good precedent for the creation of a committee of technical experts to help monitor compliance.¹¹³ In the Google case, the technical committee and monitor together will need to draw on a wider variety of expertise, extending across client- and server-oriented software engineering, economics, user interface design, and governance.

Knight
Georgetown Institute

¹¹³ United States v. Microsoft Corporation (2002) Final Judgment (District of Columbia) Available at: https://www.justice.gov/atr/case-document/final-judgment-133 (Accessed: 23 October 2024). See also Himes, J., Nieh, J. and Schnell, R. (2021) 'Antitrust Enforcement and Big Tech: After the Remedy Is Ordered', Stanford Journal of Computational Antitrust, (1), pp. 64–83. Available at: https://doi.org/10.51868/5.

VII. Conclusion

This report underscores the complexity of designing effective remedies for search competition. Succeeding in this task will open up a critical gateway to the online information environment used by hundreds of millions of Americans every day. A few central principles have emerged as the foundation for crafting remedies that can restore competition and prevent future monopolistic practices.

First, competition will not be restored by simply ending Google's exclusionary conduct. The entry barriers are too great, consumers are too conditioned to using Google, and Google's brand is too strong for this to occur. Rather, affirmative steps are needed to jump start competition in the markets for general search and search text advertising.

Second, remedy packages must be multifaceted and interlocking. Distribution, data access, user choice, and quality improvements are deeply interdependent on one another. A remedy package that omits some components will hinder competitors from entering the virtuous feedback loop where more users, more data, and better quality become mutually reinforcing.

Third, structural and behavioral remedies must work together. If structural remedies are adopted to address the particulars of the search market and its adjacencies, they will fail unless coupled with behavioral prohibitions and strong oversight.

Finally, monitoring and enforcement must be supported by robust, technically expert people and processes. Enforcement done properly will require a governance framework that formalizes input from stakeholders and vests the technical committee and monitor with authority to demand changes to compliance plans.

With these principles in mind, the court can help create the conditions for healthy competition in a market that has suffered too long without it.

Appendix: Workshop Participants

Adam Epstein, adMarketplace Inc.

Alexandre de Streel, University of Namur and CERRE

Alissa Cooper, Knight-Georgetown Institute

Amanda Lewis, Cuneo Gilbert & LaDuca LLP

Beau Rowland, Knight-Georgetown Institute

Bill Baer, The Brookings Institution

Clark Parsons, Innovate Europe Foundation

David Dinielli, Yale Law School

Elise Phillips, Public Knowledge

Felix Styma, iconomy, Innovate Europe Foundation (IEF)

Filippo Lancieri, Georgetown University Law Center

Fiona Scott Morton, Yale School of Management

Francesco Decarolis, Bocconi University

Gemma Petrie, Mozilla

Gene Kimmelman, Tobin Economic Policy Center, Yale University

Jasper van den Boom, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

Jeff Allen, Integrity Institute

Joseph Jerome, DuckDuckGo

Juan Camillo Castillo, University of Pennsylvania

Kamyl Bazbaz, DuckDuckGo

Kate Brennan, Al Now Institute

Kathleen Bradish, American Antitrust Institute

Konrad Kollnig, Maastricht University

Kush Amlani, Mozilla

Laurel Kilgour, American Economic Liberties Project

Lee Hepner, American Economic Liberties Project

Leon Musloff, University of Pennsylvania

Michael Kraver, adMarketplace Inc.

Mike Luca, Johns Hopkins University

Muxin Li, Bocconi University

Nancy Rose, Massachusetts Institute of Technology

Omar Vásquez Duque, New York University School of Law

Paul Heidhues, Heinrich Heine University Düsseldorf

Ramsay Eyre, Vanderbilt Policy Accelerator for Political Economy and Regulation

Randy Stutz, American Antitrust Institute

Richard Powers, Kressin Meador Powers LLC

Robin Berjon, IUCCA

Sumit Sharma, Independent Steve Salop, Georgetown University Law Center Tim Cowen, Preiskel & Co LLP Vladimir Prelovac, Kagi Wolfgang Oels, Ecosia Zander Arnao, Knight-Georgetown Institute